# Climate Investment Funds

CTF-SCF/TFC.5/8 October 29, 2010

Joint Meeting of the CTF and SCF Trust Fund Committees Washington, D.C. November 11 and 12, 2010

2010 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE CIF "CREATING A CLIMATE-SMART WORLD"

(draft version for comments)

#### **Proposed Decision of Joint Meeting of CTF and SCF Trust Fund Committees**

The joint meeting of the CTF and SCF Trust Fund Committees reviewed the draft *Annual Report on the CIF "Creating a Climate-Smart World"* (CTF-SCF/TFC.5/8) and welcomes the review of the experience and lessons learned from the early implementation of the CIF. The meeting approves the report, subject to the comments made at the meeting. The meeting requests the CIF Administrative Unit to publish the Annual Report and make an on-line version available on the CIF website.

#### Note:

The draft 2010 CIF annual report, *Creating a Climate-Smart World*, was submitted to the CTF-SCF Trust Committee for review and comment by cob Friday, October 29, 2010. Based on the comments received during that period and during the joint meeting, the annual report will be finalized and sent to the Committee members. An electronic version will be made available on the CIF website. The draft annual report has been cleared by the MDB Committee.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 2 of 62

# Creating a Climate-Smart World

## **Contents**

Foreword	4
About the Climate Investment Funds	5
The 2010 CIF Partnership Forum	9
A Strategic Focus on Lessons Learned	12
Highlights from the CIF Portfolio	17
CIF Programs	25
ANNEXES:	32
Financial Statements	32
Endorsed Investment Plans and Approved Projects	36
Members of Trust Fund Committees	
CIF in Action	62

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 3 of 62

# Foreword

Foreword signed by the five MDBs will be inserted once all the necessary clearances have been made.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 4 of 62

# About the Climate Investment Funds

The Climate Investment Funds (CIF) support developing countries as they move toward climate-resilient development that minimizes the output of greenhouse gases. Set up as an "experiment" to demonstrate the art of the possible, CIF shows how innovative strategies can initiate transformational change at the policy, institutional, and market levels. It embeds climate-smart action in development and poverty reduction plans.

CIF provides developing countries with grants, concessional loans, and risk mitigation instruments that leverage significant financing from the private sector, multilateral development banks (MDB), and other sources. Five MDBs—the African Development Bank (AfDB), Asian Development Bank (ADB), European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), and World Bank Group, including the International Finance Corporation (IFC)—implement CIF-funded projects and programs.

CIF's unique financial architecture rests on two trust funds: the Clean Technology Fund and the Strategic Climate Fund.

- The Clean Technology Fund finances the scaled-up demonstration, deployment, and transfer of clean technologies. The focus is on piloting investments in countries or regions that have the potential for significant greenhouse gas abatement.
- The Strategic Climate Fund (SCF) finances targeted programs that pilot new approaches with the
  potential for scaling up. The SCF includes the Forest Investment Program, Pilot Program for
  Climate Resilience, and Scaling Up Renewable Energy Program in Low-Income Countries.

CIF is a balanced partnership of contributor and recipient countries. Engagement with stakeholders, including the private sector, is a top priority. In just two years, CIF has moved from planning and programming to early implementation of 38 pilot programs on the ground. A Global Support Program will provide the "glue" to bring together individual country programs and promote learning among them.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 5 of 62

# **Box: Early Achievements**

- In just two years, CIF has moved from the initial design phase to working directly with 44 pilot countries, including three regional programs.
- Thirteen contributor countries have pledged more than \$6.4 billion in new funds. This generous support was provided by Australia, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Japan, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States.
- Twelve countries and the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region have developed Clean Technology Investment Plans as an integral part of their national development strategies.
- Nine countries and the Caribbean and Pacific Regions are developing Strategic Climate Resilience Programs in close collaboration with the MDBs and other partners.
- Six countries have each been awarded \$1.5 million for technical assistance to prepare their Strategic Climate Resilience Programs; a seventh has received an advance on the grant for analysis and stakeholder consultations. Two other countries are advancing their strategic programs within their own climate resilience programs. In the Pacific Region, three countries have submitted initial funding requests and are developing a coordinated regional strategy.
- Eight pilot countries are poised to address greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, and to bolster their sustainable forest management. This is being done in close coordination with other Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (REDD-plus) activities.
- A Dedicated Grant Mechanism is being developed under the Forest Investment Program (FIP) to ensure the effective participation of indigenous peoples and local communities in its programs.
- A program to catalyze renewable energy markets in low-income countries was launched at the Copenhagen climate summit in December 2009; six countries have been selected as the first pilots.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 6 of 62

# Box: What CIF Brings to the Table

- Designed as a unique partnership that builds on the MDBs' extensive experience in countries and regions and their ability to ensure the rapid use of funds
- Supports transformational change in climate action at the policy, institutional, and market levels
- Provides scaled-up resources to selected pilot countries through programmatic approaches to climate-resilient, low-carbon development
- Puts countries in the driver's seat and integrates investment programs with national development strategies
- Represents recipient and contributor countries equally on CIF governing bodies
- Involves a full range of stakeholders, including developing country governments, MDBs, other development partners, civil society, indigenous peoples, local communities, and the private sector
- Leverages significant financing from other sources
- Has the potential to serve as a global knowledge portal on climate action

## The Private Sector and Climate Change

An estimated \$140 to \$165 billion will be needed annually for climate change adaptation and mitigation. Many of the required investments are expected to be privately financed. The challenge is to ensure that the private sector is engaged and that the bulk of private investments support low-carbon, climate-resilient development.

Private enterprises have particular competencies that can uniquely contribute to adaptation and mitigation. <sup>2</sup> The private sector brings innovative technologies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, the capacity to design climate-resilient infrastructure, improved information systems, the ability to anticipate and prepare businesses for droughts or floods, and experience in managing major infrastructure projects.

Climate change affects everyone, including private sector entities. In Nepal, for example, an array of hydropower plants that sell electricity to India and other countries face the loss of dependable water supplies when the country's glaciers shrink.

At the same time, climate change can also generate new business opportunities and help the private sector leverage public funding and policies. There will, for instance, be increased demand for more efficient power plants, better public transportation systems, climate-resilient infrastructure, and insurance and risk management expertise, among others.

Although the private sector already invests significantly in many vulnerable sectors, significant barriers to private sector involvement exist. Decisions about new private investments are based on the risk-return expected from the investment. If the risks are expected to be high, the return on that investment must also be commensurately high. Private investments also require stable and predictable environments, such as adequate regulatory frameworks, strong and transparent regulations, and an adequate—and realistic—division of responsibilities.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 7 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> World Bank.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> World Business Council for Sustainable Development.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.

Actively encouraging private sector partnerships is a primary goal of CIF's work. CIF recognizes the importance of strong partnerships among the private sector, governments, other development partners, and civil society. CIF offers a mix of financial incentives, risk mitigation tools, technical assistance, and knowledge transfer that can help make adaptation and mitigation investments more attractive to private investors.

Examples of how the Clean Technology Fund works to break down barriers to private investments in energy efficiency and renewable energy projects include the following:

- Many financial institutions hesitate to develop energy efficiency or renewable energy financing
  lines when there is a steep learning curve and new loan procedures that have not yet established
  revenue potential and loss performance records. Using CTF funds to absorb losses that could
  exceed losses in other typical business lines provides the comfort level needed to encourage new
  investment while a track record is being established.
- Perceived risks inhibit investors from financing renewable energy projects in markets where the
  sector is not yet developed and there is no track record. To address the barriers to early entrants,
  CTF funds can be used to cushion the risks (through subordination, guarantees, or equity gap
  coverage), offset the upfront costs (through lower pricing on investments), or both.

Early results are encouraging. The private sector is involved in all 13 of the approved CTF investment plans, and private sector representatives participate in CIF governance, serving as observers to the CTF and SCF committees and subcommittees.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 8 of 62

# The 2010 CIF Partnership Forum

The annual Partnership Forum is the centerpiece of CIF's outreach to stakeholders. The Forum seeks to facilitate dialogue on CIF's strategic directions, results, and impacts, as well as showcase promising practices, innovative technologies, and lessons learned from experience.

The 2010 Forum was held at ADB headquarters in Manila, Philippines. It built on the first Partnership Forum, which was held in 2008 in Washington, DC, just months after CIF was established. That initial meeting offered an opportunity to explore how best to encourage dialogue and open exchanges on CIF. The 2010 Forum went further by promoting an inclusive dialogue among all stakeholders on early achievements and lessons learned from design and implementation.

The goals were ambitious—to raise global partnerships to a new level of understanding and ensure that an increasing number of stakeholders' voices are heard and their experiences shared. An advisory group representing both developed and developing countries, northern and southern nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), indigenous peoples and local communities, the private sector, and the United Nations guided the planning for the event. Broad stakeholder consultations enriched the process.

A special study on emerging lessons from CIF design and implementation over the first 18 months provided the thematic momentum. The result was a balanced combination of "big picture" plenary-style exchanges by participants and more targeted discussions by panels focusing on individual CIF programs. The overall agenda was structured so that participants had an equal opportunity to voice their views and share their knowledge. The invitation list to CIF stakeholders was developed with the assistance of the MDBs, country focal points, and the Stakeholder Forum, a London-based organization whose members represent civil society, the private sector, and indigenous people groups.

The 400 stakeholders attending the 2010 CIF Partnership Forum were keenly aware that the stakes are high. Climate change, one of today's most daunting challenges, requires strong and immediate action. Even a two-degree Celsius warming above preindustrial temperatures will have devastating effects, especially on the most vulnerable developing countries.

But addressing climate change concerns also provides an opportunity to move toward climate-resilient development that minimizes greenhouse gas emissions. At the official sessions and in informal conversations in the corridors at ADB headquarters, stakeholders echoed the sentiment that sweeping change is needed to move toward a climate-smart world. Despite the extraordinary ingenuity and cooperation required to tackle climate change, the prevailing mood was positive.

The 2011 Forum will build on that momentum. Plans are already under way for the event, which is being hosted by the African Development Bank in Tunis, Tunisia. The 2011 Forum aspires to shift the focus to lessons learned and knowledge exchanged as a result of the implementation of CIF-funded programs.

Once again, an advisory group will provide feedback on the planning process, in close consultation with stakeholders. The 2011 Forum will also feature a United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)-led symposium on emerging scientific and technical knowledge, which builds on the success of the UNEP-led symposium at the Manila Forum. A series of Learning Briefs will provide an in-depth look at the lessons learned and a realistic assessment of how specific pilots addressed diverse challenges and opportunities in strategic programming. The Learning Briefs will cover experiences in all CTF and Pilot Program for Climate Resilience (PPCR) countries and regional programs, as well as the Expert Groups.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 9 of 62

# **Box: Taking Stock**

Forty-four developing countries are aiming to advance toward a more climate-resilient and lower emissions growth path, thanks to financial support from CIF and the experience it has gained in just two years of operation. CIF has reached across disciplines and international boundaries to bring together public and private partners in an integrated network working to meet complex and urgent climate change challenges. Early results have been positive and are helping to shape CIF's vision for the future.

James Radner, a development specialist, presented a new report focusing on the lessons learned during CIF's first 18 months at the 2010 Partnership Forum. The study highlights country-level activities in Bangladesh, Tajikistan, and Turkey.

Radner spent more than four months interviewing a wide spectrum of stakeholders—NGOs, indigenous peoples, private sector representatives, government officials in contributor and recipient countries, MDB focal points, and staff at bilateral development agencies and UN organizations. The result is a detailed analysis of CIF's challenges and successes as it evolves into a reference point for global knowledge on large-scale transformations to climate-resilient development with minimal carbon dioxide emissions.

Despite the diversity of stakeholders contacted, there was a degree of commonality in their views, priorities, and observations on what works best and what does not. Among the key issues that emerged:

- Alignment with existing country plans and financing modalities is essential for faster and more efficient progress on CIF programming.
- Stakeholder engagement is more successful when it is based on shared goals and common objectives.
- CIF concessional funding makes a difference because it provides substantial financial leverage, enables innovation, and reduces risks involved in transformational change.
- Country ownership is strengthened when climate objectives are combined with economic and human development goals.
- Cooperation among the MDBs is at the heart of CIF's success.
- Diverse views and approaches should not be viewed as isolated elements of the climate change dialogue. Rather, the goal should be solutions that benefit "both" sides—for example, a forest investment strategy that incorporates both scientific knowledge and traditional practices.
- There is a tension between seeking a quick impact and the desire for deep, far-reaching results.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 10 of 62

#### Box: Voices of Stakeholders

Stakeholders attending the 2010 CIF Partnership Forum represented more than 70 countries, nearly 80 NGO and civil society organizations, eight MDBs, seven UN agencies, and the private sector. The active participation of such a broad array of organizations and groups reflects CIF's unique efforts to engage stakeholders in a collaborative governance and outreach structure that fosters ongoing dialogue.

Most important, the Forum dialogue and feedback is helping to enhance CIF's work on the ground. As one NGO project coordinator observed, "I came away from the Forum with a better understanding of other stakeholders' points of view. This will help me adapt my project so that it can tackle the issues and concerns that were raised."

Stakeholders enthusiastically contributed to discussions during the formal sessions and took full advantage of opportunities for informal networking and learning. Throughout the Forum, the dialogue was rich with new ideas, diverse perspectives, and constructive critiques of early CIF design and implementation.

Overall, the stakeholders agreed that climate change undermines the gains that have been made in reducing poverty; thus it must be viewed as a development, equity, and justice issue. The need for continuous learning was underscored, as was the need for more effective and accessible knowledge management strategies to facilitate country-to-country and region-to-region exchanges.

For many participants, the "Voices of Stakeholders" session offered a glimpse into CIF's first efforts to place developing countries at the forefront of innovation and climate-smart development. For others, it was an insight into how NGOs, civil society organizations (CSOs), and the private sector can work hand-in-hand with governments on pressing climate change challenges.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 11 of 62

# A Strategic Focus on Lessons Learned

One fundamental way that CIF can effectively contribute to global climate change solutions is by sharing the lessons learned from the design and implementation of CIF programs in an inclusive, strategic, and timely manner. The overarching goal of CIF's proposed Knowledge Management Program is to maximize the impacts of CIF investments by facilitating effective stakeholder participation and supporting the replication of lessons learned.

The 2010 Partnership Forum provided an unparalleled opportunity for documented reflection and dialogue on the lessons learned in the first two years. These lessons will help lay the foundation for decisions on CIF's strategic directions and priorities. In particular, these lessons will help inform future discussions within the CIF government bodies, as well as country-led efforts to program the use of CIF resources.

#### Lessons Learned—CIF-wide

The challenge in CIF's first year of operation was translating the cooperative effort of the design process into an inclusive operational structure. The second year's work program focused on supporting country-led development of CIF Investment Plans and country-led preparation of Strategic Programs for Climate Resilience, as well as putting FIP and the Program on Scaling-Up Renewable Energy in Low Income Countries (SREP) in operation. Among the overarching lessons learned:

- Country leadership in developing investment programs ensures government ownership and provides a framework for aligning and blending resources. Such approaches are likely to be strategic and long term, rather than carried out on a project-by-project basis.
- Joint missions enable the MDBs and recipient governments to consult with a broad array of stakeholders, build buy-in, manage expectations, strengthen the kinds of capacities that meet specific country needs, and create a common vision.
- The most effective joint missions have benefited from a strong leadership at the ministerial level, interdepartmental coordination, and a clear vision of how CIF funding can support the implementation of transformational national strategies.
- Involving representatives of civil society and indigenous groups from the beginning helps foster critical support that could otherwise not be gained. This inclusive approach also enhances transparency and ensures that environmental and social standards are sound.
- The unprecedented coordination and cooperation among the MDBs is a profoundly important CIF innovation. Leveraging their comparative advantages is the lifeblood of successful planning and implementation because it ensures coherence and harmonization.
- Cooperation and coordination with other development partners, such as UN agencies and bilateral donors, works well in countries where donor coordination processes have been established and the MDBs have a strong presence.
- The involvement of local civil society stakeholders varies considerably and reflects the level of dialogue between the government and CSOs, as well as the extent to which CSO engagement has been pursued.
- When contributing and recipient countries are equally represented on governing bodies, decision making is more transparent and cooperation expanded.
- A diversity of financial instruments provides flexibility and enables Investment Plans to be tailored to national interests and priorities.
- Involving the private sector has led to a better understanding of its potential contributions to climate investments and the innovation, resources, and agility it has to offer. CIF acknowledges

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 12 of 62

that more needs to be done to engage the private sector in CIF activities at different levels, such as governing structure, knowledge management, and investment.

#### Lessons Learned—Clean Technology Fund

Twelve countries and the MENA Region have developed Investment Plans based on agreed investment criteria and operational guidelines. The pilot countries have made the approved Investment Plans an integral part of their national climate action strategies and development plans. Among the lessons learned:

- Effective implementation of an Investment Plan requires an enabling environment that is supportive, stable, and predictable. Appropriate regulatory frameworks and transparent procedures are essential. Financing alone is not sufficient to spark sweeping market transformations.
- Governments are most committed to Investment Plans that are aligned with related development priorities, such as energy security and mobility for the poor.
- To be successful, a program design must have the support of the private sector, government ministries, technical intermediaries, financial institutions, industries, consumers, civil society groups, and local communities.
- Barriers to achieving financial sustainability must be removed and the risks and associated costs shared equitably by governments and the private sector.
- Joint missions should include effective outreach to the private sector to craft new partnerships and build confidence in clean technologies.
- CTF's subsidy design, including concessional loans that are priced below market rates and have longer maturity levels than commercial instruments, is an appropriate instrument to cover risks and costs associated with the introduction of clean technologies.

#### **Emerging Lessons—Forest Investment Program**

Eight countries have been selected as FIP pilots. The MDBs are now planning joint missions to each pilot country to support the government's development of an investment strategy that is aligned with REDD-plus priorities. FIP investment strategies are crafted in close consultation with the following groups: national, state, and local authorities; NGOs and civil society organizations, including indigenous peoples and local communities; the UN-REDD Programme, Forest Carbon Partnership Fund (FCPF), and other forest-relevant organizations; other UN agencies, the Global Environment Facility (GEF), and development partners; and an array of diverse stakeholders. FIP builds on the readiness activities supported by FCPF and UN-REDD.

The FIP, FCPF, and UN-REDD programs are working together to define both short- and long-term opportunities to enhance cooperation and coherence among REDD-plus institutions in support of country-level REDD-plus activities. From joint delivery and planning meetings, to harmonizing procedures and developing a joint delivery platform with common standards, the three organizations are actively exploring pragmatic options to foster collaboration among existing REDD-plus institutions. Among the lessons learned:

- At the country level, FIP resources can be used to match existing funding sources with country needs.
- Countries that have identified national REDD-plus priority actions, with FCPF and UN-REDD support, have a definite advantage: They can attract large-scale external investments and offer incentives to national stakeholders to enhance collaboration.
- The effective involvement of forest-dependent indigenous peoples and local communities is critical to the success of program development and the deployment of FIP resources.
- South-South cooperation and increased collaboration between bilateral and multilateral donors should be emphasized.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 13 of 62

 Private sector investments require stable enabling environments, clear institutional arrangements, and transparent financial structures.

#### Lessons Learned—Pilot Program for Climate Resilience

Nine countries and the Caribbean and Pacific Regions have been selected as PPCR pilots and are in the process of preparing their Strategic Programs for Climate Resilience, the first step toward project financing. So far, six of the pilot countries have requested technical assistance planning grants, and a seventh has received an advance on the grant for analysis and stakeholder consultations to establish strategic priorities. Two other countries are advancing their strategic programs within their own climate resilience programs. In the Pacific Region, three countries have submitted technical assistance requests and are developing a coordinated regional strategy. Among the lessons learned:

- By addressing the need for effective integration of climate resilience in national planning processes, PPCR catalyzes action around specific climate strategies.
- Existing institutions and processes—in particular, National Adaptation Programs of Action
  (NAPAs), poverty reduction strategy programs, and the broader budget and planning process—lay
  the groundwork for proactive climate action. PPCR is building on those ongoing efforts and using
  the analysis carried out in formulating NAPAs to aid in priority setting for longer term strategies
  and investments.
- Capacity building and institutional strengthening can help decision makers become architects of transformational change.
- Involving relevant government ministries is essential. By providing an overall framework, PPCR helps governments bridge sectoral approaches.
- PPCR enables governments to match funding sources with national priorities and needs when there is donor coordination at the country level.
- Because PPCR spans many sectors and the solutions vary, expectations about what can be accomplished in the short term must be realistic.
- Strategic stakeholder engagement contributes to more targeted planning and decision making.
- To be effective, solutions must be country specific and adapted to the circumstances in individual countries.

#### **Emerging Lessons—Scaling Up Renewable Energy Program in Low-Income Countries**

Since SREP was launched in December 2009, six countries have been selected as pilots. The MDBs are looking forward to organizing joint programming missions to consult governments on the design of country programs for SREP financing, once the SREP programming and funding guidance is approved. The governments and MDBs will also engage with UN agencies and other development partners, the private sector, civil society (including indigenous people and local communities), and other stakeholders on how SREP can help enhance renewable energy investments. Among the insights highlighted in the design and programming phase:

- To achieve the large-scale deployment of renewable energy technologies, the SREP must leverage cofinancing and "crowd-in" activities of the private sector and other development partners as part of a common programming approach.
- Identifying successful renewable energy development and implementation models can help expand national capacity to design programs for SREP financing.
- Positive incentive structures and innovative financial instruments can facilitate private sector involvement.
- Financial intermediaries can serve as a tool to manage and leverage resources.
- SREP programs are strengthened if they build on existing climate change and energy access initiatives within the pilot countries and encourage collaborations with other development partners.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 14 of 62

• Involving local communities and indigenous peoples, as well as empowering women and increasing community services, are vital to the success of SREP programs.

# Box: Measuring CIF's Effectiveness

The importance of measuring CIF's progress and effectiveness cannot be underestimated. The only way to obtain a clear picture of how CIF funds are being spent, what results are being achieved, and what kind of impacts CIF investments are having is through regular results monitoring and performance evaluation.

CIF is currently developing results frameworks for the CTF, PPCR, FIP, and SREP programs. The frameworks will include clear and measurable results statements, select indicators to measure progress toward each agreed result, and a performance measurement strategy. The different frameworks will complement each other and link results at the overall CIF level with those at the individual program, project, and country levels. Given the complexity of development operations addressing climate change, implementation of these results frameworks will include field testing and close coordination with development partners at the country and program levels.

In the process of developing the results frameworks, CIF conducted a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of all CIF programs. The SEA identified the environmental and social opportunities and challenges associated with climate-related investments. It also provided guidance on how best to maximize these opportunities and better manage the challenges. The SEA findings will help refine indicators for the CIF results frameworks; identify possible enhancements to CIF investment criteria and programming guidelines for the SREP, PPCR, and FIP programs; and facilitate the scoping of environmental and social issues for CTF projects.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 15 of 62

# **Box: Expert Advice**

Selecting geographically and technically diverse pilot countries for the PPCR, FIP, and SREP programs was a challenge. Many countries expressed strong interest in being considered as potential candidates. To ensure an informed and accountable selection process, teams of globally recognized experts were asked to recommend a short list of countries that could be usefully included in a pilot program, based on criteria that had been agreed by the governing bodies of each program.

The independent experts brought a wealth of knowledge and experience to the selection process. Consulting with the MDBs provided information that allowed the experts to shape the recommendations.

- PPCR The PPCR expert group had an array of specialists: a climate change scientist, an economist familiar with adaptation, and specialists in development and climate change policy, environment, governance and institutions, social and rural development, and natural resource management. The expert group began by identifying regional "hot spots," then analyzed the vulnerability levels of individual countries using indicator-based methodologies. The PPCR Subcommittee has approved nine pilot countries and two regions, taking into account the recommendations of the expert group.
- FIP The FIP expert group included specialists in agriculture, forests, forest industry and investment, climate change, development, indigenous peoples, natural resources, and social and gender development. Expressions of interest in being considered as pilots were received from 45 eligible national governments, two regions, and one subnational entity. The group was asked to assess the potential to reduce emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, maintain and enhance existing carbon stocks, and undertake REDD-plus activities. The FIP Subcommittee has approved eight pilot countries, taking into account the recommendations of the expert group.
- SREP The SREP expert group included development and energy economists, and specialists in environmental impact assessments, development and renewable energy policy, renewable energy technologies, rural and urban electrification, the private sector, and social and gender development. Expressions of interest in being considered as pilots were received from 32 eligible national governments. The group was asked to consider a country's natural conditions to develop renewable energy and its willingness to undertake renewable energy development that could put the country on a low-carbon trajectory. The SREP Subcommittee has approved six pilot countries, taking into account the recommendations of the expert group.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 16 of 62

# Highlights from the CIF Portfolio

# Indonesia Focuses on Renewable Energy

Indonesia is one of Asia's largest emitters of greenhouse gases, with land use change and deforestation the primary culprits. The industry, power, and transport sectors dominate Indonesia's energy-related carbon dioxide emissions. If Indonesia continues on the current energy consumption path, it will release greenhouse gas emissions that are nearly triple the current amount by 2025.

The government of Indonesia is committed to mitigating climate change and has announced that the country will reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 26 percent by 2020. Fossil fuels dominate the country's energy supply. To mitigate the local environmental impacts and diversify the fuel mix as a hedge against fossil fuel price volatility, the government is launching a program to develop 10,000 megawatts of generation capacity by 2014 through a program of predominantly renewable energy.

In line with the government's program, the CTF Investment Plan for Indonesia proposes CTF cofinancing of \$400 million to support Indonesia's goals of providing 17 percent of total energy use from renewable energy and improving energy efficiency by 30 percent by 2025. Specifically, the Investment Plan proposes CTF financing for two areas: the scale-up of large-scale geothermal power and the acceleration of initiatives to promote renewable energy (especially from biomass) and energy efficiency. CTF investments will mobilize financing of up to \$2.7 billion from multilateral financiers, state-owned enterprises, and the private sector.

# MENA Region Poised to Tap Its Abundant Solar Potential

The MENA Region is ripe for producing solar power, with an abundance of sunshine, low humidity, and large areas of unused flat land near road networks and transmission grids. To add to the physical conditions, the region's market dynamics are favorable for large-scale investments in concentrated solar power. The International Energy Agency has identified concentrated solar power as one of the key technologies that are at the heart of the energy technology revolution, because they can make the largest contributions to reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

As with other new technologies, concentrated solar power has higher costs and higher risks than current technologies. The International Energy Agency emphasizes that "it is only through technology learning as a result of market place deployment that these costs are reduced and the product adapted to the market." The greater the scale of such deployment, the earlier producers can commercialize the technology. To accelerate the global deployment of concentrated solar power, targeted schemes that provide positive incentives for their adoption at scale are needed.

The CTF Investment Plan proposes CTF cofinancing of \$750 million, which will mobilize an additional \$4.8 billion from other sources, to expedite the global deployment of concentrated solar power through expansion programs in five MENA countries: Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, and Tunisia. These investments will constitute a dominant part of the countries' strategies for deploying low-carbon technologies. They will also have the scale to shape the course of global market deployment of concentrated solar power, with broad environmental and economic benefits.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 17 of 62

The Investment Plan will help MENA contribute to global climate change mitigation with its unique geography. When implemented, the plan is expected to—

- Support the deployment of about one gigawatt of generation capacity, amounting to about 15
  percent of the projected global pipeline and a twofold increase in the current global installed
  capacity,
- Leverage more than \$4.8 billion in public and private investments for concentrated solar power plants, thereby more than doubling current global investments in concentrated solar power, and
- Support associated transmission infrastructure in the Maghreb and Mashreq for domestic supply and exports. The plan is part of the Mediterranean grid enhancement that will enable the scale-up of concentrated solar power through market integration in the region.

Overall, the plan will help MENA countries achieve their development goals of energy security, regional integration, and industrial growth and diversification.

# **Turkey Promotes Energy Conservation**

Turkey's greenhouse gas emissions are growing at one of the fastest rates in the world. Energy production and usage account for 77 percent of the country's greenhouse gas emissions, with industry consuming about 32 percent of total energy.

To meet skyrocketing energy demands with the least environmental impact, the country is vigorously promoting an ambitious energy efficiency program that reduces waste and contributes to energy security. According to the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources, Turkey has the potential to cut 15 to 20 percent of total consumption through energy conservation. But creating a market for energy efficiency hinges on successful private sector involvement.

The government has enacted legislative and regulatory reforms, but an enabling environment has not been enough. Although energy efficiency is a government priority, the strategy has not been embraced by the private sector. The private sector's limited experience in the field and a lack of access to energy efficiency finance are the key stumbling blocks.

The government has tapped CTF to attract greater private sector investments in energy efficiency across the board. In the commercial and public sectors, the focus is on more efficient lighting, heating, air conditioning, and insulation. For households, in addition to fluorescent bulbs and insulation, the program requires strict energy standards for appliances, particularly refrigerators. For large industries, a switch-over to new process technologies and the replacement of old motors, compressors, and pumps are priorities.

The World Bank (including IFC), EBRD, and CTFare providing financing to state-owned and private banks and private lending companies to accelerate energy efficiency ventures in small, medium, and large renewable energy enterprises. The CTF has thus supported the implementation of a transformative program to overcome risks and reduce transaction costs in the entire Turkish banking and lease-finance sectors.

EBRD established the Turkish Sustainable Energy Finance Facility to help drive the transformation in the private banking sector. Only six months after CTF funds were approved in December 2009, the Facility signed with four Turkish banks and the first loan agreements were signed in September 2010. The results illustrate how CTF can rapidly commit funding to energy efficiency and link technical assistance to funding from bilateral donors, such as the European Union. The experience that local banks gained in lending for energy efficiency and renewable energy—coupled with the relationships established by EBRD—are likely to lead to increased support for energy efficiency and renewable energy, independent of CTF funds.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 18 of 62

# Mexico Gives Green Light to Energy Efficiency

With CTF assistance, the government of Mexico has launched the Special Climate Change Program to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by more than 40 percent a year by 2030 without sacrificing economic development. The strategy encompasses a sweeping transformation of the domestic lighting and home appliance markets to increase energy efficiency and offset the projected 4.8 percent annual increase in electricity demand.

To jump-start the process, the government is distributing 72 million fluorescent light bulbs to low-income households. Traditional incandescent bulbs that use up to 80 percent more energy are being replaced with the new bulbs. Some 1.7 million aging refrigerators and air conditioners are also being replaced with modern, energy-efficient models. To phase out the inefficient appliances, CTF concessional financing will support a credit line for low-interest consumer loans, complementing a World Bank loan that will support a rebate program. The financing scheme will be offered through some of the country's largest retail markets.

To ensure a seamless transition, the government is setting up recycling facilities for old lighting systems, disposal centers for out-of-date refrigerators and air-conditioning units, and local testing facilities for new appliances. Local manufacturers and distributors are receiving support to shift to the new technologies, and public awareness campaigns are alerting consumers to the advantages of an energy-efficient lifestyle.

## Major Cities Opt For Greener Transport

Transportation fuels economic development around the world, moving people, goods, and materials from place to place and providing access to health, education, and employment opportunities. Unfortunately, greenhouse gas emissions from transportation are growing more than in other sectors. Experts predict that in the next two decades, nearly 45 percent of all carbon dioxide emissions from the developing world will come from transport as more and more people drive motorcycles and cars.

Urgent action is needed to address the rapid increase in greenhouse gas emissions from the transportation sector and to transform the way in which urban transport is growing. That is particularly vital in the developing world, where transport systems are currently being developed. CIF supports the emerging "Avoid-Shift-Improve" approach to low-carbon transport. This approach emphasizes land use planning to reduce travel distance and time; more energy-efficient modes of transport such as rail, bus, or nonmotorized vehicles; and improved vehicle and fuel technologies.

Bus rapid transit systems, in particular, provide a versatile form of public transportation. Buses can travel on existing roadways, so capital costs are lower than for rail systems. Well-designed bus rapid transit systems can improve operating speed and reliability, serve a wide number of locations in a metropolitan area, and help facilitate a modal shift from automobiles to comfortable and convenient public transit.

Along these lines, CTF is supporting a sweeping shift to more efficient mass transit systems in major cities around the world, including Bogota, Colombia; Cairo, Egypt; Mexico City, Mexico; Manila and Cebu, the Philippines; Bangkok, Thailand; and Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. These investments in sustainable, energy-efficient mass transport promise numerous benefits—from reduced carbon dioxide emissions, to better public health because of reduced air pollution, to less traffic congestion, to providing inclusive transport systems. They will also help shape the cities of the future by reducing urban sprawl and decentralization.

CTF is currently supporting the following urban transportation projects:

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 19 of 62

#### Manila and Cebu, Philippines

- Introduce first bus rapid transit systems in the country.
- Invest in busways, terminals, stations, control systems, development of a feeder route system, and pedestrian and commuter access.
- Support institutional development to strengthen the capacity of transport officials from the Department of Transportation and Communication.

#### Bangkok, Thailand

- Accelerate the implementation of selected bus rapid transit lines.
- Promote low-emission bus technologies.
- Implement support for managing and operating a bus rapid transit system.

#### Cairo, Egypt

- Introduce six new bus rapid transit corridors, which are linked to rail and other bus systems.
- Implement light rail transit linking Cairo with New Cairo City and other areas.
- Replace 613 old and polluting public minibuses with 1,310 new large-capacity buses operating on compressed natural gas or hybrid drive.

#### Bogota, Colombia

- Implement integrated public transit systems.
- Introduce hybrid buses and natural gas buses to reduce emissions.
- Support policies to replace an estimated 9,000 old buses with new vehicles.

#### Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

- Support comprehensive urban transport system.
- Strengthen linkages between transport modes.
- Introduce high-efficiency buses, urban rail/bus interchanges, and park-and-ride facilities.

#### **Mexico City, Mexico**

- Expand metro systems based on a low-emission power supply.
- Introduce 18 low-emission integrated mass transit corridors.
- Integrate with other modes of transport.
- Introduce hybrid bus technologies.
- Scrap old, inefficient buses.

# Bangladesh Expands Efforts to Build Climate Resiliency

Bangladesh is ranked as the most climate-vulnerable country in the world. Located between the Himalayas and the Bay of Bengal, the country is prone to floods, torrential rains, erosion, and cyclones. Fifty-three percent of the world's deadliest cyclones have occurred in the country. With the projected sea level rise and

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 20 of 62

increasingly frequent and intense cyclones in the Bay of Bengal, Bangladesh's densely populated, low-lying coastal regions will be even more vulnerable to violent storm surges and tidal flooding.

After a cyclone killed 140,000 people in 1991, the government made the expansion of emergency preparedness a top priority. Extensive reconstruction of polder embankments to protect the most vulnerable coastal regions was undertaken as part of a broad-based strategy to provide stronger protections to communities. Although considerable progress has been made in recent years, much more must be done to build climate resilience and reduce risk.

The government's overall strategy is to promote climate-resilient agriculture and food security, improve coastal embankments and afforestation, and fortify water supplies and infrastructure in 12 vulnerable coastal communities. Although the country has emergency shelters in many of the coastal districts, the capacity is limited. Further, a government evaluation of the shelter system has shown that only about 40 percent of the people actually use the shelters during extreme weather because the shelters often are inconveniently located and cannot house livestock.

The government is now studying the possibility of developing low-cost, storm and cyclone—proof housing to supplement traditional emergency shelters. A proposed PPCR pilot program would construct single-family homes that meet specific disaster-resilient criteria, including safe drinking water and sanitation systems and detachable solar systems for electricity. Small grain storage areas could be converted into livestock refuges when a storm hits. Roads and bridges connecting the communities would also be improved.

Financing for the disaster-resilient homes would require a small initial contribution from the homebuyer, a substantial government grant, and a low-interest loan that is managed through a local microfinance organization. A key goal is private sector engagement, which will enable the program to continue independently of PPCR. Decentralized government structures and community groups will also play a pivotal role in ensuring that programs are flexible and adapted to local needs.

# Tajikistan Targets a Myriad of Climate Challenges

One of the least developed economies in Central Asia, Tajikistan is also the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. A legacy of environmental mismanagement, underinvestment in basic infrastructure, and limited institutional capacity hampers the country's ability to cope with the projected impacts of climate change.

Tajikistan's vulnerability—and that of the entire region—hinges on the availability of water, primarily from glaciers, and how those water resources are managed. More than 90 percent of the nation's energy comes from small and large hydropower facilities, and two-thirds of the region's water resources originate in Tajikistan.

A PPCR assessment has identified the following challenges:

- Severely inadequate climate data
- Low awareness of climate vulnerability among government agencies, the business community, and the general public
- Weak infrastructure in critical areas such as water, energy, and transport that leaves the country poorly equipped to cope with climate change
- Inability to assess threats to agriculture and the rural economy
- Inadequate government capacity to identify and respond to climate threats

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 21 of 62

With PPCR financing, the government plans to modernize the national system for collecting and analyzing weather and climate data, integrate climate considerations into flooding and river basin management investments, build more resilient hydropower facilities, and enhance the resilience of irrigation and upland agriculture.

Since the country does not have a national adaptation program of action, the PPCR-funded initiatives provide an opportunity to focus on Tajikistan's climate change needs. However, PPCR resources cannot finance programs to meet all of the country's needs. Priority-setting will be critical, as will the management of expectations. The creation of partnerships with other institutions tackling climate change issues is also a priority.

# Caribbean Nations Adopt a Regional Approach to Climate Preparedness

Small island states are particularly vulnerable to climate change. Their small size, remote locations, limited natural resources, and fragile ecosystems make them especially susceptible to higher temperatures, sea level rise, and more frequent and severe storms. Tourism—the lifeblood of many small island states—depends on healthy ecosystems. Decreased tourism revenues mean reduced incomes and cutbacks in public expenditures for social services, education, and infrastructure.

Six Caribbean nations—Dominica, Grenada, Haiti, Jamaica, St. Lucia, and St. Vincent and the Grenadines—are part of a regional PPCR pilot aimed at tackling risks and vulnerabilities common to all Caribbean countries. The program will facilitate a regional approach to data management and monitoring in close collaboration with Caribbean Community and Common Market (CARICOM) agencies, such as the Caribbean Community Climate Change Center and the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States.

Although each country will implement its own national climate resilience program, the regional work program can bolster even the most modest efforts by addressing strategic climate change initiatives that can be administered more efficiently and cost-effectively at the regional level. These regional initiatives include climate modeling and monitoring, technical assistance to improve land use management and spatial planning, awareness raising, and creation of a policy and institutional framework for climate-resilient development.

In Jamaica, for example, the government is committed to mainstreaming climate change risks into national policies and plans, identifying strategic priorities, adopting best practices, and promoting public awareness of climate change issues. The PPCR funds will complement ongoing adaptation activities at the local and national levels in support of the priorities identified in close consultation with stakeholders. These priorities include water resources, agriculture and food security, health, tourism, and human settlement and coastal resources. Lessons learned at the country level will be shared with other CARICOM nations.

Another example is the government of St. Lucia, which has also made a concerted effort to address climate change challenges. Over the past two decades, the government has appointed a National Climate Change Committee of government officials and NGO representatives. The government has also played a leading role in the Caribbean Planning for Adaptation to Climate Change project and the World Bank-funded Second Saint Lucia Disaster Management Project, among others. The government plans to use PPCR funds to build on and expand those strategic efforts. Among the key goals are an enhanced national capacity to capture and analyze climate data, use of geographic information systems to strengthen institutions and investments, and the enactment of appropriate national policies and legislation to strengthen climate resilience.

The regional PPCR will strengthen such national programs and facilitate better regional planning and readiness as well as expanded dialogue with neighbors. The overall success of the regional approach will depend on the contributions of individual countries. Close MDB collaboration and the active participation of other partners will help maximize the impact.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 22 of 62

# Niger Copes with Climate Shocks

More than nine million people in Niger live on less than one dollar a day. Between 60 and 80 percent are dependent on rain-fed agriculture for their lives and livelihoods. The country has suffered from droughts for seven of the last 40 years, leaving it extremely vulnerable to the effects of climate change. Today, one in five households face severe food insecurity, and 12 percent of children under age five are affected by acute malnutrition.<sup>4</sup>.

Although the government has attempted to implement a range of critical reforms in recent years, it has not been successful in reducing the country's vulnerability to climate shocks. Niger's selection as a PPCR pilot will enable the country to bolster national programs and development strategies aimed at making it more climate resilient. A PPCR stocktaking analysis and widespread consultations with stakeholders identified a number of key priorities. These include developing an insurance system to reduce agricultural and livestock risks, integrating climate change into planning and decision-making processes, improving climate modeling and data, improving water resource management and erosion control, and coordinating the country's ongoing climate change programs and activities.

The government, through PPCR support, has recognized that the country's most urgent vulnerabilities are intertwined with its ability to cope with and plan for climate variability. The government is proposing to utilize PPCR investments to—

- Strengthen weather and climate forecasting and early warning systems. The project will be implemented through AfDB's ClimDev-Africa program.
- Expand water resource management through two programs that AfDB is currently implementing in the country.
- Improve rural livelihoods, increase sustainable land management, develop crop insurance and farm cooperatives, and build local government capacity to integrate climate change issues into local development plans and investment strategies. PPCR will strengthen the activities of phase two of the World Bank's Community Actions Program by better integrating climate change in the program's approach.

In support of the government's program, IFC will work with the private sector to expand water management infrastructure, increase the distribution of climate-resilient seed, and build a dry port to make the country more self-sufficient. IFC will also explore opportunities to engage the private sector in the expansion of food distribution networks and other transportation infrastructure.

# **Energizing Sub-Saharan Africa**

Power is Africa's largest infrastructure challenge by far, according to a new report, *Africa's Infrastructure: A Time for Transformation*. The study of 24 African countries was conducted by a partnership of institutions, including the African Development Bank and World Bank Group. Only one-fifth of the population of Sub-Saharan Africa has access to electricity, and many countries rely on inefficient, expensive, small-scale power generation that is oil based and contributes to climate change. Africa's chronic power problems affect 30 countries and take a heavy toll on economic growth and productivity, stymieing efforts to reduce poverty and improve people's lives.

Africa is well endowed with many renewable energy resources, but only a small fraction of that potential has been tapped. CIF is working with three African countries—Ethiopia. Kenya, and Mali—that have been

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 23 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> World Health Organization.

selected as SREP pilots. SREP will help the countries overcome economic and noneconomic barriers in order to attract significant private sector investments in the renewable energy sector.

- Kenya Currently, only 15 percent of Kenya's population has access to electricity, and the demand
  is growing. The government has initiated a number of programs to improve capacity and
  accessibility throughout the country. Renewable energy-based power generation is a priority.
  Private investors are expected to play a major role in boosting geothermal power development in
  the country, and there is significant private sector interest in clean biomass and wind power
  projects.
- Ethiopia Only 2 percent of Ethiopians living in rural areas have access to electricity. The government is committed to providing adequate and cost-effective electricity supplies and rapidly expanding access. Small hydropower, wind, and geothermal are potential sources of new power generation.
- Mali Only 4 percent of Mali's rural population has access to electricity, and the government is seeking to increase that to 12 percent by 2010 and 55 percent by 2020. The government is promoting greater use of photovoltaic technologies, while continuing the development of other renewable energy sources.

# Maximizing Renewable Energy in Asia

More than 800 million people in Asia do not have access to electricity. <sup>5</sup> About three-quarters of them live in South Asia. Providing access to renewable sources of energy is essential to poverty alleviation, energy security, climate change mitigation, and the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals in the region.

SREP funding can enable small island nations, such as the Maldives, to undertake significant renewable energy projects. It can also scale up local investments and partnerships to provide access to clean energy in resource-rich, low-income countries, such as Nepal.

- The Maldives is an island nation in the Indian Ocean. Only 200 of its 1,190 islands are inhabited, and of those, only 24 have reliable power. The nation relies heavily on fossil fuel imports, making it particularly vulnerable to oil price shocks. The government's goal is to make the Maldives carbon neutral by 2020 by developing solar power (both photovoltaic and small thermal) and wind generation capacity through public-private partnerships. The Maldives selection as a SREP pilot will help the nation tap its renewable energy potential and stimulate climate-smart economic growth.
- Nepal is a landlocked country where only 43 percent of the people have access to electricity. Although the potential to develop hydropower, solar, and wind energy resources is significant, high tariffs, system losses, generation costs, and overheads have weakened the power sector. The gross domestic product growth rate is low because of inadequate energy resources for industrial and commercial purposes. Nepal's selection as a SREP pilot will build on the country's adoption of appropriate policies, long-term engagement with the private sector, and experience with community-owned installations.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 24 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> World Energy Outlook 2009

# **CIF Programs**

# Clean Technology Fund

Clean technologies offer real solutions to pressing environmental problems. The Clean Technology Fund was established to provide developing countries with positive incentives to scale up the demonstration, deployment, and transfer of technologies with a high potential for long-term greenhouse gas emissions savings. Each CTF Investment Plan is tailored to the needs of the individual country and designed to help achieve national development objectives.

CTF offers concessional financing for large-scale, country-initiated transportation, renewable energy, and energy-efficiency projects. CTF pledges now total \$4.4 billion as of September 30, 2010. Since 2009, CTF has approved investment plans for 12 countries and the MENA Region. Every \$1 of CTF funding is expected to leverage \$8 from other sources.

CTF strongly focuses on private sector engagement. Private capital, expertise, and commercial discipline can make a big difference in implementing critical clean technology strategies. Increasingly, governments are recognizing that a combination of appropriate public sector policies and private sector action can achieve sweeping, transformational change in climate-resilient development that minimizes the output of greenhouse gas emissions.

#### CTF AT A GLANCE

#### **Funding**

\$4.4 billion pledged, valued as of September 30, 2010

*Implementation* 

AfDB, ADB, EBRD, IDB, and World Bank Group, including IFC.

Governance

CTF Trust Fund Committee on which contributor and recipient countries are equally represented Observers

MDBs, Trustee, GEF, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), UNEP, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), European Investment Bank, and self-selected representatives of civil society organizations, indigenous peoples, and the private sector *Financina* 

Concessional financing instruments such as grants and concessional loans; risk mitigation instruments such as guarantees; and equity

Country Eligibility

Countries eligible for official development assistance and MDB assistance

#### Status

Investment plans have been endorsed for Colombia, Egypt, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Mexico, Morocco, Philippines, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, Ukraine, Vietnam, and the Middle East and North Africa Region (Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Tunisia).

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 25 of 62

# Table: Endorsed CTF Investment Plans and Specific Clean Technologies

Thirteen Investment Plans have been endorsed for CTF cofinancing:

Colombia

Focus: Sustainable transport system and energy efficiency CTF Funding: \$150 million: Expected Leverage: \$2.8 billion

Egypt

Focus: Wind power, urban transport

CTF Funding: \$300 million; Expected Leverage: \$1.6 billion

Indonesia

Focus: Geothermal power, energy efficiency, and renewable energy CTF Funding: \$400 million: Expected Leverage: \$2.7 billion

Kazakhstan

Focus: Renewable energy development, associated gas flaring reduction and fuel switching to gas, district heating system modernization, demand-side management and end-user efficiency in small and medium enterprises

CTF Funding: \$256 million; Expected Leverage: \$1.0 billion

Mexico

Focus: Energy efficiency, urban transport, wind power CTF Funding: \$500 million; Expected Leverage: \$7.2 billion

Middle East and North Africa Region

Focus: Concentrated solar power expansion program

CTF Funding: \$750 million; Expected Leverage: \$4.8 billion

Morocco

Focus: Electricity generation, energy conservation, urban transport CTF Funding: \$150 million; Expected Leverage: \$1.5 – 1.8 billion

**Philippines** 

Focus: Energy efficiency, renewable energy, solar, and urban transport

CTF Funding: \$250 million; Expected Leverage: \$2.5 billion

South Africa

Focus: Concentrated solar power, wind energy, solar water heaters, energy efficiency

CTF Funding: \$500 million; Expected Leverage: \$1.8 billion

Thail and

Focus: Energy efficiency, renewable energy, and urban transformation

CTF Funding: \$300 million; Expected Leverage: \$3.9 billion

Turkey

Focus: Renewable energy, energy efficiency

CTF Funding: \$250 million; Expected Leverage: \$1.8 billion

Ukraine

Focus: Energy efficiency, renewable energy, smart grids, zero emission power from gas network

CTF Funding: \$299 million; Expected Leverage: \$2.3 billion

Vietnam

Focus: Energy efficiency, transmission and distribution, renewable energy, and urban transport

CTF Funding: \$250 million; Expected Leverage: \$3.7 billion

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 26 of 62

# Strategic Climate Fund

Droughts, floods, and storms are becoming more frequent and severe in countries around the world, affecting agricultural productivity and food security. Water stress and the collapse of ecosystems make the situation worse. Deforestation and forest degradation exacerbate it even further. The poorest countries will suffer the most, because they face higher exposure to environmental risks and have fewer resources to cope.

The Strategic Climate Fund was established to pilot new development approaches and scaled-up activities aimed at specific climate change challenges.

SCF operates through three targeted programs:

- Forest Investment Program
- Pilot Program for Climate Resilience
- Scaling Up Renewable Energy Program in Low-Income Countries

SCF uses the skills and capabilities of the MDBs to raise significant concessional climate financing that can significantly reduce carbon emissions and provide greater climate resilience. Pledges for SCF's three programs now total \$1.8 billion.

#### **Forest Investment Program**

Forests are inextricably linked to climate change and development. Deforestation and forest degradation are the second leading cause of global warming, accounting for nearly 20 percent of global greenhouse emissions. Forests also store billions of tons of carbon and help regulate the earth's climate. Millions of indigenous people and local communities depend on forests and their rich ecosystems for their livelihoods, sustenance, and cultural survival. Developing countries urgently need to protect and sustainably manage their forests and address the underlying drivers of forest loss.

FIP supports developing country efforts to reduce deforestation and forest degradation and promote sustainable forest management that leads to emissions reductions and the protection of carbon reservoirs. It is designed to finance large-scale investments and leverage additional financial resources, including funds from the private sector.

FIP has four major objectives:

- To facilitate transformational change in forest-related land use policies and practices
- To pilot and scale up replicable models of effective forest management
- To leverage additional financial resources for REDD-plus
- To provide experience and feedback that informs the UNFCCC deliberations on REDD-plus

FIP investments develop institutional capacity, forest governance, and information. They promote forest mitigation efforts, including the protection of forest ecosystem services. Moreover, they provide support outside the forest sector to reduce the pressure on forests. FIP has selected eight countries as FIP pilots, with \$558 million pledged as of September 30, 2010. Indigenous peoples' groups and local communities are designing a Dedicated Grant Facility, which will help those groups become an integral part of the FIP investment strategy in a country.

#### FIP AT A GLANCE

**Funding** 

\$558 million pledged, valued as of September 30, 2010 *Implementation* 

AfDB, ADB, EBRD, IDB, IBRD, and IFC

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 27 of 62

#### Governance

FIP Subcommittee of representatives from six contributor and six eligible recipient countries

#### **Observers**

MDBs, Trustee, GEF, Forest Carbon Partnership Facility Secretariat, UNFCCC, UN Collaborative Program on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries Technical Secretariat, and self-selected representatives of civil society, indigenous peoples, and the private sector

#### **Pilots**

Brazil, Burkina Faso, Democratic Republic of Congo, Ghana, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic (PDR), Mexico, and Peru

# Box: A Dedicated Grant Mechanism to Benefit Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities

In many developing countries, rural populations—including about 60 million indigenous peoples—depend on forests and forest ecosystems for their survival and sustenance. Even more, the land on which they live and the natural resources on which they depend are inextricably linked to their identities and cultures. Because they often live in environmentally sensitive areas, they are extremely vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. At the same time, their traditional knowledge and practices may be critical to effective climate change adaptation.

With the selection of eight pilot countries, the Forest Investment Program is poised to launch a series of bold new initiatives to reduce deforestation and forest degradation, and promote sustainable forest management. FIP is fully committed to encouraging and enabling indigenous peoples and local communities to contribute directly to the design and implementation of its investment strategies, programs, and projects. A FIP priority is to ensure that the voices of indigenous peoples and local communities are heard and their interests protected.

Crucial to FIP's strategy is the creation of a Dedicated Grant Mechanism. The mechanism will provide grants linked to FIP investment strategies to support the full, effective, and continuous participation of indigenous peoples and local communities. Indigenous peoples and local community representatives who participate in FIP meetings are taking the lead on designing the grant mechanism. Extensive consultations are being held with geographically and culturally diverse groups living in forests that are potentially covered by the FIP mandate. Four regional meetings in Africa, Asia, Latin American, and the Pacific, and a global workshop will help synthesize ideas and overcome barriers to improved communication. The proposed Dedicated Grant Mechanism is expected to be presented to the FIP governing body in June 2011.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 28 of 62

# Box: Stepping Up REDD-plus Collaboration

As REDD-plus gains momentum worldwide, FIP, the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility, and the UN REDD Programme have stepped up collaborative efforts to coordinate their support to REDD-plus countries. In April 2009, the governing bodies of all three organizations agreed on an action plan, *Enhancing Cooperation and Coherence among REDD-plus Institutions to Support REDD-plus Efforts*.

The action plan identifies short- and long-term options to enhance cooperation among REDD-plus institutions and match national needs with available financial and technical resources. This will not only reinforce existing collaborations, but also strengthen coherence by utilizing each organization's comparative advantage. At the global level, collaboration will be fostered in the context of the ongoing negotiations within the UNFCCC framework, including the REDD-plus work program and analytical tasks relevant to the three institutions.

To institutionalize the collaborations, a joint meeting of the FIP Subcommittee, FCPF Participants Committee, and UN-REDD Policy Board will be held in November in Washington, DC. Synergies among the three organizations were also strengthened when eight REDD-plus countries—Brazil, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Democratic Republic of Congo, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Mexico, and Peru—were selected as FIP pilot countries. FCPF and UN-REDD Programme support for REDD-plus readiness preparations in individual countries is also helping to lay the groundwork for FIP activities.

The GEF is acting as an observer to the FIP Subcommittee, the FCPF Participants Committee and the UN-REDD Programme Policy Board. All agencies involved in the implementation of projects under the FCPF, FIP and UN-REDD Programme are also GEF implementing agencies.

#### **Pilot Program for Climate Resilience**

For the world's poorest countries, managing the effects of climate change is central to effective poverty reduction, economic growth, and sustainable development. But climate change strategies cannot be carried out in a vacuum. They must be based on realistic assessments of vulnerabilities and capacities and their integration into a country's overall development plan.

Developing countries need technical and financial assistance to incorporate climate information into their planning, financing, and regulatory processes. Doing this allows governments to make solid choices about the most effective responses, from policy measures, to investment adjustments, to contingency planning.

The Pilot Program for Climate Resilience was established to demonstrate ways that developing countries can make climate risk and resilience part of their core development planning. PPCR provides incentives for scaled-up action and initiates transformational change. It helps countries integrate climate resilience into their development plans and offers additional financial resources to support public and private sector investments. Moreover, it seeks to catalyze a transformational shift from "business as usual" approaches to broad-based strategies for achieving medium- and long-term climate resilience at the national level. PPCR pilot programs are strategically aligned with other sources of adaptation finance and provide a common platform for development partners to cooperate and harmonize their approaches.

PPCR supports nine countries and two regions as pilots. Six of the pilot countries have received \$1.5 million preparation grants to develop their Strategic Programs. In addition, Nepal has received a \$225,000 advance

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 29 of 62

for analysis and stakeholder consultation on strategic priorities. Two other countries are funding the development of their strategic programs as part of ongoing efforts to mainstream climate resilience into development planning. Three countries in the Pacific Region—Papua New Guinea, Samoa, and Tonga—have submitted initial funding requests and are developing an overarching regional framework.

#### PPCR AT A GLANCE

**Funding** 

\$972 million pledged, valued as of September 30, 2010

**Implementation** 

AfDB, ADB, EBRD, IDB, IBRD, and IFC

Governance

PPCR Subcommittee with representatives from six contributor and six eligible recipient countries and a high-level representative of the Adaptation Fund Board

Observers

MDBs, Trustee, GEF, UNDP, UNFCCC, and self-selected representatives of civil society organizations, indigenous peoples, the private sector, and a community dependent on adaptation approaches to secure livelihoods

Country Eligibility

Countries eligible for official development assistance and MDB assistance

**Pilots** 

Bangladesh, Bolivia, Cambodia, Mozambique, Nepal, Niger, Tajikistan, Yemen, Zambia, and the Caribbean (Haiti, Jamaica, Dominica, Grenada, Saint Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines) and Pacific (Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Tonga) Regions

#### **SREP Program Highlights**

More than 1.5 billion people in developing countries do not have access to electricity and other basic energy services. As developing countries strive to overcome poverty and advance economic growth, governments are faced with the critical challenge of transforming the energy sector to increase access and ramp up modern energy use.

Increasingly, governments are recognizing that renewable energy has the potential to leapfrog old approaches and embrace a new pattern of energy generation and use. The benefits of a strategy that minimizes greenhouse gas emissions extend far beyond climate change mitigation. Not only can renewable energy free countries from dependence on expensive fossil fuel imports, it can also open up new sources of growth and jobs and give poor countries a comparative advantage.

The good news is that many low-income countries have exceptional, but largely untapped, renewable energy resources. However, the barriers to greater reliance on renewable energy are complex:

- Most low-income countries have inadequate policy, legal, regulatory, and economic frameworks.
- Commercial lenders frequently perceive renewable energy investments as too risky.
- Private sector engagement is extremely limited.
- Potential customers do not have sufficient financial resources to purchase renewable energy on a scale that would make it affordable.

SREP was established to scale up the deployment of renewable energy solutions and expand renewable markets in the world's poorest countries. SREP aims to pilot and demonstrate the economic, social, and environmental viability of development pathways that do not exacerbate global warming. SREP finances solar, wind, bio-energy, geothermal, and small hydro technologies. Private sector investment is encouraged.

SREP has selected six countries as pilots. These countries are collaborating with the MDBs to develop succinct SREP funding plans.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 30 of 62

#### SREP AT A GLANCE

#### **Funding**

\$307 million pledged, valued as of September 30, 2010

#### Implementation

AfDB, ADB, EBRD, IDB, IBRD, and IFC

#### Governance

SREP Subcommittee of representatives from six contributor and six eligible recipient countries Observers

MDBs, Trustee, GEF, UNDP, UNEP, and self-selected representatives of civil society, indigenous people, and the private sector

#### Country Eligibility

Low-income countries eligible for MDB concessional financing and engaged in an active MDB country program

#### **Pilots**

Ethiopia, Honduras, Kenya, Maldives, Mali, and Nepal

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 31 of 62

# **ANNEXES:** FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### CLEAN TECHNOLOGY FUND

#### Status of Pledges, Contributions and Receipts

as of September 30, 2010 (in millions)

			Pledges			Effective Contribution d/		
Contributor	Contribution Typ	e Currency	Amount a/	USD eq.	Total	Receipts e/	Outstanding f/	
Australia	Grant	AUD	100	97	100	75	25	
France	Loan	EUR	203	277	-	-	-	
Germany	Loan	USD	615	615	615	615	-	
Japan	Grant	JPY	92,655	1,112	92,655	32,429	60,226	
Spain	Capital	EUR	80	109	80	30	50	
Sweden	Grant	SEK	600	90	600	500	100	
United Kingdom	b/ Capital	GBP	385	613	385	385	-	
United States	c/ Grant	USD	1,492	1,492	300	300	-	
				4,405				

a/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 4.4 billion.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 32 of 62

b/ Amount pledged under the Strategic Climate Fund and allocated to the Clean Technology Fund.

c/ The total pledge made by the US to the CIFs remains \$2 billion; the allocation across the programs is indicative and based on an extrapolation of current U.S. allocations.

d/ Represents countersigned contribution agreement/arrangement.

e/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 2.1 billion.

f/ Represents the total effective contribution less actual receipts.

#### STRATEGIC CLIMATE FUND

#### Status of Pledges, Contributions and Receipts

as of September 30, 2010 (in millions)

Pledges Effective Contribution b/

Contributor	Contribution Type	Currency	Amount a/	USD eq.	Total	Receipts	Outstanding
Australia	Grant	AUD	50	48	50	48	2
Canada	Grant	CAD	100	84	100	100	-
Denmark	Grant	DKK	191	35	65	65	-
Germany	Grant	EUR	50	68	50	15	35
Japan	Grant	JPY	18,531	222	18,531	4,633	13,898
Netherlands	Grant	USD	76	76	76	-	76
Norway	Grant	NOK	1,050	179	480	330	150
Switzerland	Grant	USD	20	20	-	-	-
United Kingdom c/	Capital	GBP	800	1,273	800	490	310
United States d/	Grant	USD	508	508	75	75	-
				2,514			

a/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 2.5 billion.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 33 of 62

b/ Represents countersigned contribution agreement/arrangement.

c/ Includes allocation of GBP 385 million to CTF, GBP 3.5 million to Readiness Fund of the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF), GBP 11.5 million to Carbon Fund of the FCPF and GBP 50 million to the Congo Basin

d/ The total pledge made by the US to the CIFs remains \$2 billion; the allocation across the programs is indicative and based on an extrapolation of current U.S. allocations.

#### STRATEGIC CLIMATE FUND

#### Table 2a. PPCR - Status of Pledges, Contributions and Receipts

as of September 30, 2010 (in millions)

		Pledges			Effec	ctive Contribut	ion b/
Contributor	Contribution Type	Currency	Amount a/	USD eq.	Amount	Receipts	Outstanding
Australia	Grant	AUD	40	39	40	38	2
Canada	Grant	CAD	100	84	100	100	-
Denmark	Grant	DKK	76	14	38	38	-
Germany	Grant	EUR	50	68	50	15	35
Japan	Grant	JPY	9,266	111	9,266	4,633	4,633
Norway	Grant	NOK	45	8	45	45	-
United Kingdom	Capital	GBP	225	358	225	23	202
United States c/	Grant	USD	290	290	55	55	-
				972			

a/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 972 million.

#### STRATEGIC CLIMATE FUND

#### Table 2b. FIP - Status of Pledges, Contributions and Receipts

as of September 30, 2010 (in millions)

		Pledges			Effec	ctive Contribut	ion b/
Contributor	Contribution Type	Currency	Amount a/	USD eq.	Amount	Receipts	Outstanding
Australia	Grant	AUD	10	8	10	10	-
Denmark	Grant	DKK	54	10	27	27	-
Japan	Grant	JPY	5,559	67	5,559	-	5,559
Norway c/	Grant	NOK	855	146	285	285	-
United Kingdom	Capital	GBP	100	159	100	12	88
United States d/	Grant	USD	168	168	20	20	-
			1	558			

a/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 558 million.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 34 of 62

b/ Represents countersigned contribution agreement/arrangement.

c/ The total pledge made by the US to the CIFs remains \$2 billion; the allocation across the programs is indicative and based on an extrapolation of current U.S. allocations.

b/ Represents countersigned contribution agreement/arrangement.

c/ NOK 285 mil was received in 2010, with a higher level of funding to be released over the following two years contingent upon (i) the significant participation of other donors; (ii) operational progress of the program; and (iii) outcome of UNFCCC deliberations on financing for REDD.

d/ The total pledge made by the US to the CIFs remains \$2 billion; the allocation across the programs is indicative and based on an extrapolation of current U.S. allocations.

#### STRATEGIC CLIMATE FUND

#### Table 2c. SREP - Status of Pledges, Contributions and Receipts

as of September 30, 2010 (in millions)

		Pledges			Effec	tive Contribut	ion b/
Contributor	Contribution Type	Currency	Amount a/	USD eq.	Amount	Receipts	Outstanding
Denmark	Grant	DKK	61	11	-	-	-
Japan	Grant	JPY	3,706	44	3,706	-	3,706
Netherlands	Grant	USD	76	76	76	-	76
Norway	Grant	NOK	150	26	150	-	150
Switzerland	Grant	USD	20	20	-	-	-
United Kingdom	Capital	GBP	50	80	50 c	15	35
United States d/	Grant	USD	50	50	-	-	-
				307			

a/ Total value amounts to USD eq. 307 million.

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 35 of 62

b/ Represents countersigned contribution agreement/arrangement.

c/ Represents provisional allocation.

d/ The total pledge made by the US to the CIFs remains \$2 billion; the allocation across the programs is indicative and based on an extrapolation of current U.S. allocations.

# ENDORSED INVESTMENT PLANS AND APPROVED PROJECTS

# Colombia - Investment Plan: \$150 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Sustainable Transport Systems	IDB, IBRD,	\$100 million	\$2,226 million	Private sector, IDB, IBRD, government, carbon finance, municipalities
Energy Efficiency	IDB, IFC	\$50 million	\$620 million	Private sector, IDB, IFC, government, KfW

# Egypt - Investment Plan: \$300 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing resources
Wind Energy Scale-up Program (transmission)	IBRD	\$150 million	\$310 million	Private sector, IBRD, government
Wind Energy Scale-up program (independent power producers)	AfDB/IFC	\$50 million	\$546 million	Private sector, AfDB/IFC, government
Urban Transport Sector	IBRD	\$100 million	\$765 million	Private sector, IBRD, government

### Indonesia - Investment Plan: \$ 400 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Geothermal Sector Development Project	ADB, IBRD, IFC	\$300 million	\$1,710 million	Government, ADB, IBRD, IFC, private sector
Financial Sector Transformation for Energy Effciency and Renewable Energy	ADB, IFC	\$100 million	\$1,000 million	ADB, IFC, private sector

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 36 of 62

## Kazakhstan - Investment Plan: \$256 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Renewable Energy	EBRD	\$73 million	\$268 million	EBRD, private sector
Gas Utilization/Fuel Switch/Flaring	EBRD	\$56 million	\$267 million	EBRD, private sector
District Heating	EBRD, IFC	\$50 million	\$455 million	EBRD, IFC, private sector
Energy Efficiency	EBRD, IFC	\$77 million	\$24 million	EBRD, IFC, private sector

## Mexico - Investment Plan: \$500 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Private Sector Energy: Private Sector Wind Development	IFC	\$15.6 million	\$120 million	IFC, private sector
Private Sector Energy Projects	IFC	\$34.4 million	\$380 million	IFC, private sector
Urban Transport Transformation Project	IBRD	\$200 million	\$2,494 million	Government, GEF, CCIG, IBRD, carbon finance, private sector
IDB Public-Private Sector Renewable Energy	IDB	\$53.9 million	\$2,060 million	IDB, private sector, government
IDB Renewable Energy	IDB	\$71.6 million	\$1.2 million	Government, IDB, private sector, other
IDB Energy Efficiency	IDB	\$75 million	\$337 million	Government, IDB, private sector, other
Lightning and Appliances Efficiency	IBRD	\$50 million	\$600 million	Government, IBRD, carbon finance

# MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA REGION - Investment Plan: \$750 million in CTF financing

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 37 of 62

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing resources
Concentrated Solar Power (CPS) in the Middle East and North Africa Region (total) <sup>6</sup>	IBRD, AfDB	\$750 million	\$4,855 million	IBRD, AfDB, IsDB, AFD, SFD, KfW, EIB, JICA, JBIC, government,
CPS - Algeria (3 projects)		\$160 million	\$732 million	IBRD, AfDB, IsDB, AFD, SFD,
CPS - Egypt (2 projects)		\$95 million	\$545 million	KfW, EIB, JICA, JBIC, government, private sector
CPS - Jordan (2 projects)		\$112 million	\$716 million	g
CPS-Morocco (1 project)		\$197 million	\$1,008 million	
CPS - Tunisia (3 projects)		\$186 million	\$1,854 million	

## Morocco - Investment Plan: \$150 million in CTF funding

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co-financing	Co-financing sources
Fond de Développement de l'Energie ("FDE"	AfDB, IBRD, IFC	\$150 million	\$1,500 - 1,800 million	IBRD, AfDB, Hassan I Fund, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, IFC, private sector

## PHILIPPINES - Investment Plan: \$250 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy	IBRD, IFC	\$75 million	\$1,430 million	IBRD, IFC, government, private sector
Mainstreaming Solar Power to Mitigate Climate Change	ADB	\$125 million	\$800 million	ADB, government, carbon finance, private sector
Urban Transport	IBRD	\$50 million	\$300 million	IBRD, government

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 38 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This program covers Concentrated Solar Power projects in five countries in the Middle East and North Africa Region: Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Tunisia

## South Africa - Investment Plan: \$500 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Eskom Concentrated Solar Power	AfDB, IBRD	\$250 million	\$350 million	AfDB, IBRD, European Investment Bank (EIB), KfW
Eskom Wind Power	AfDB, IBRD	\$100 million	\$300 million	AfDB, IBRD, AFD (Agence Française de Développement)
Private Sector Renewable Energy/Energy efficiency/Solar Water Heaters	IFC, AfDB	\$150 million	\$1,200 million	AfDB, IFC, EIB, AFD, private sector

## Thailand - Investment Plan: \$300 million in CTF financing

manana invocancia rani 4000 minion in 011 mianong					
Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources	
Catalyzing Private Clean Energy Investments through Special Financial Institutions	IBRD	\$50 million	\$750 million	IBRD, government, private sector, carbon finance	
Advancing Public Investments in Clean Energy through Public Utilities EGAT-PEA (Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand (EGAT); Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA))	IBRD	\$110 million	\$767 million	IBRD, EGAT, PEA	
Clean Energy Advancement - Private Sector: Renewable Energy	IFC	\$30 million	\$580 million	IFC, private sector	
Clean Energy Advancement - Private Sector: Energy efficiency and Cleaner Production	IFC	\$40 million	\$680 million	IFC, private sector	
Urban Transport Transformation	IBRD	\$70 million	\$1,197	IBRD	

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 39 of 62

Turkey - Investment Plan: \$250 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Private Sector Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency Project	IBRD	\$100 million	\$1,050 million	IBRD, private sector, TKB (Turkish Kalkinma Bankasi) and TSKB (Industrial Development Bank Turkey)
IFC Energy Efficiency: Commercializing Sustainable Energy Finance Program	IFC	\$21.7 million	\$220 million	IFC, private sector
IFC/EBRD Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency Projects	IFC, EBRD	\$78.3 million	\$200 million	IFC, EBRD, government, private sector
TEIAŞ Turkish Electricity Transmission Corporation) Transmission including Smart Grid	IBRD	\$50 million	\$400 million	IBRD, TEIAŞ

## UKRAINE - Investment Plan: \$299 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Ukraine Renewable Energy Financing Facility	EBRD, IFC	\$52.6 million	\$330 million	EBRD, IFC, private sector
Energy Efficiency	EBRD, IFC, IBRD	\$96.4 million	\$935	EBRD, IFC, IBRDE, private sector, Ukrainian counterpart
Smart Grids	IBRD	\$50 million	\$400 million	IBRD, Ukrainian counterpart
Zero Emissions from the Gas Network	EBRD, IBRD	\$100 million	\$600 million	EBRD, IBRD, Ukrainian Counterpart

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 40 of 62

## VIETNAM - Investment Plan: \$250 million in CTF financing

Project	Involved MDBs	CTF amount	Expected co- financing	Co-financing sources
Industrial Energy Efficiency	ADB	\$50 million	\$215 million	Government, private sector, carbon finance, ADB
High Voltage Transmission Technology	ADB	\$50 million	\$1,000 million	Government, private sector, ADB, other
Urban Transport Program	ADB	\$50 million	\$1,100 million	Government, ADB, other
Smart Grid Technology	IBRD	\$30 million	\$280 million	Government, IBRD
Clean Energy Financing Facility	IFC	\$70 million	\$1,100 million	IFC, private sector

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 41 of 62

## MEMBERS OF TRUST FUND COMMITTEES

## CTF Trust Fund Committee

## **AUSTRALIA**

Jean-Bernard Carrasco Assistant Director General Sustainable Development Group Australian Agency for International Development Level 9, 20 Allara Street Canberra City, ACT 2601 **AUSTRALIA** 

Tel: 61 2 6206 4024

E-mail: <u>iean-bernard.carrasc</u>o@ausaid.gov.au

#### **BRAZIL**

Rogério Studart **Executive Director** The World Bank 1818 H St., N.W. Washington, DC 20433, USA 1-202-458-0090 (office) 1-202-522-1551 (fax)

E-mail: RStudart@worldbank.org

#### **CHINA**

Shaolin Yang Executive Director, China The World Bank 1818 H St., N.W. Washington, DC 20433, USA

Tel: (202) 458-0058

E-mail: syang@worldbank.org

#### **EGYPT**

Mohamed Hammam Assistant to the Minister in Charge of International Organizations, International, Regional & Arab Financing Institutions Ministry of International Cooperation 8 Adly St., Downtown

Cairo, EGYPT

Tel: +202 23912815 - +202 23955280, +202 23916214

Fax: +202 23915167

E-mail: mhammam@mic.gov.eg

#### **FRANCE**

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 42 of 62 Cyril Rousseau

Service des Affaires multilatérales et du développeme

Direction générale du Trésor

Ministère de l'Economie, de l'industrie et de l'emploi

**FRANCE** 

Tel: + 33.1.44.87.73.60

E-mail: Cyril.Rousseau@dgtpe.fr

#### **GERMANY**

Frank Fass-Metz Head of Division

Environment and Sustainable Use of Natural Resources

Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development

Dahlmannstrabe 4, 53113

Bonn, GERMANY

Tel: +49 (0) 228-99 535 3745 Fax: +49 (0) 228 99 535 3980

E-mail: Frank.Fass-Metz@bmz.bund.de

#### INDIA

Jawed Usmani

Senior Advisor to the Executive Director for Bangladesh, Bhutan, India and Sri Lanka

The World Bank 1818 H Street NW

Washington D.C. 20433 USA

Tel: (202) 458-1048 - Fax: (202) 522-1553

E-mail: jusmani@worldbank.org

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi

Director for Development Issues

International Bureau

Ministry of Finance

3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: <a href="mailto:shinji.taniquchi@mof.go.jp">shinji.taniquchi@mof.go.jp</a>

#### **MOROCCO**

El Amrani Abdelkrim

Chargé de Mission

Ministere Des Affaires Economiques

Quartier Administratie Agdal- Rabat

Morocco

Tel: 212 376 87316

E-mail: elamrani@affaires-generals.gov.ma

#### **NIGERIA**

Victor Fodeke,

Head, Special Climate Change Unit Federal Ministry of Environment

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 43 of 62

Nigeria

Tel: 2348036460880; 2348052508627

E-mail: vicfodeke@gmail.com

#### **SOUTH AFRICA**

Zaheer Fakir

Chief Director and Policy Advisor

International Governance and Relations

Dept. of Environmental Affairs and Tourism

SOUTH AFRICA Tel: 27-12-310 3828

E-mail: zfakir@deat.gov.za

#### **SPAIN**

Eulalia Ortiz

General Directorate for International Finance

Ministry of Economy and Finance

Paseo Castellana, 162

17th Floor, DESP 20 28046

Madrid, SPAIN

Tel: +34 915835274

E-mail: eulalia.ortiz@meh.es

#### **SWEDEN**

Anders Wahlberg

Department for Multilateral Development Cooperation

Ministry for Foreign Affairs,

Stockholm,

Sweden

Tel: + 46 70 328 35 04

E-mail: anders.wahlberg@foreign.ministry.se

#### TURKEY

Özgür Pehlivan

**Deputy Director General** 

General Directorate of Foreign Economic Relations, Undersecretariat of Treasury

Inonu Bulvari No. 36 06510 Emek-Ankara, TURKEY

Tel: +90 312 212 8256/Fax +90 312 212 85 50

E-mail: ozgur.pehlivan@hazine.gov.tr

#### **UNITED KINGDOM**

Greg Briffa

Team Leader Climate and Environment Group

Department for International Development

1 Palace Street

London SW1E 5HE, UNITED KINGDOM

E-mail: g-briffa@dfid.gov.uk

#### USA

William Pizer

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 44 of 62

Deputy Assistant Secretary Department of Treasury Office of Environment & Energy Room 3222 MT 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20020 USA

Tel: (202) 622-0173

E-mail: william.pizer@do.treas.gov

## SCF Trust Fund Committee

## AUSTRALIA 7 \*

Jean-Bernard Carrasco
Assistant Director General
Sustainable Development Group
Australian Agency for International Development
Level 9, 20 Allara Street
Canberra City, ACT 2601
AUSTRALIA

Tel: 61 2 6206 4024

E-mail: jean-bernard.carrasco@ausaid.gov.au

#### **BOLIVIA**

V. Daza Advisor to Executive Director The World Bank Group 1818 H Street, NW Washington, DC Tel: (202) 458 0062 Fax

E-mail: vdaza@worldbank.org

#### **CANADA**

Jan Sheltinga
Canadian International Development Agency
Multilateral Development Institutions Directorate (MDI)
200 Promenade du Portage
Gatineau, Quebec
K1A 0G4, CANADA
Tel: + 819 994 7089

Tel. + 013 334 7003

E-mail: jan.sheltinga@acdi-cida.gc.ca

#### **DENMARK\***

Ambassador Margit THOMSEN Ambassador, Head of Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 45 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>\* Within the contributor country group, it was agreed that countries may partner in a "twinning" arrangement to share one seat. The two partnering countries will agree how to rotate representatives to serve as the Member for the seat.

Asiatisk Plads 2 Copenhagen - 1448 K

Denmark

Tel: + 45 339 20535 Fax: + 45 3392 1678 E-mail: margth@um.dk

#### **GERMANY**

Frank Fass-Metz
Head of Division
Environment and Sustainable Use of Natural Resources
Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development
Dahlmannstrabe 4, 53113
Bonn, GERMANY

Tel: +49 (0) 228-99 535 3745 Fax: +49 (0) 228 99 535 3980

E-mail: Frank.Fass-Metz@bmz.bund.de

#### **GUYANA**

James Singh Commissioner of Forest Guyana Forestry Commission (GFC)

Tel: (592) 226 3898 Fax: (592) 226 8956

E-mail: <a href="mailto:commissioner@forestry.gov.gy">commissioner@forestry.gov.gy</a>

#### **INDONESIA**

Singgih Riphat
Fiscal Policy Office
Ministry of Finance
B Building, 8th Floor
Jalan Dr. Wahidin No.1
Jakarta, REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA

Tel: +62 21 384 6379 x 7270

Fax: +62 21 381 0181

E-mail: masri@centrin.net.id,

riphats@yahoo.com

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi
Director for Development Issues
International Bureau
Ministry of Finance
3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp

#### KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

Asylbek A. Aidaraliev 27-6 Karasuiskaya Str,

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 46 of 62

72001 Bishkek Kyrgyz Republic

E-mail: iuk@mail.elcat.kg

#### **MALDIVES**

Ahmed Shafeeq Ibrahim Moosa Envoy for Science and Technology President's Office Maldives

Tel: +960 7966211

E-mail: ahmed.moosa@po.gov.mv

**NETHERLANDS**Kitty van der Heijden
Deputy Director

Climate, Energy, Environment and Water Department

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Bezuidenhoutseweg 67, The Hague

**NETHERLANDS** 

E-mail: kitty-vander.heijden@minbuza.nl

#### **NORWAY**

Bjørn Brede Hansen Head of Environmental Section Ministry of Foreign Affairs Oslo, NORWAY

Tel: + 47 22242734

E-mail: bjorn.brede.hansen@mfaa.no

#### **SENEGAL**

Cheikh Ndiaye Sylla

Head

Senegalese Environment Office

E-mail: denv@orange.sn

#### **SWITZERLAND\***

Brigitte Cuendet Program Manager

Federal Department of Economic Affairs FDEA

State Secretariat for Economic Affairs SECO, Infrastructure Financing

Effingerstrasse 1

CH -3003 Berne, Switzerland

Tel: +41 31 324 92 13 Fax: 41 31 324 09 65

E-mail: brigitte.cuendet@seco.admin.ch

#### **TUNISIA**

Noureddine KAABI

General Director of Infrastructure

Ministry of Development and International Cooperation

Tunisia

E-mail: noureddine.kaabi@mdci.gov.tn

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 47 of 62

#### **UNITED KINGDOM\***

Vicky Seymour
Department for International Development (DFID)

1 Palace Street

London SW1E 5HE, UK

E-mail: v-seymour@dfid.gov.uk

#### **USA**

William Pizer
Deputy Assistant Secretary
Department of Treasury
Office of Environment & Energy
Room 3222 MT
1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20020 USA

Tel: (202) 622-0173

E-mail: william.pizer@do.treas.gov

#### YEMEN

Mr. Mohammed Hameed Al-Sha-abi Ministry of Electricity & Energy PO Box 11422 Yemen

Tel. 00967 777214506

E-mail: malshaabi@gmail.com

## Joint CTF and SCF Trust Fund Committee

#### **AUSTRALIA**

Jean-Bernard Carrasco
Assistant Director General
Sustainable Development Group
Australian Agency for International Development
Level 9, 20 Allara Street
Canberra City, ACT 2601
AUSTRALIA

Tel: 61 2 6206 4024

E-mail: jean-bernard.carrasco@ausaid.gov.au

## **BOLIVIA**

V. Daza Advisor to Executive Director The World Bank Group 1818 H Street, NW Washington, DC Tel: (202) 458 0062 Fax

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 48 of 62

E-mail: vdaza@worldbank.org

#### **BRAZIL**

Rogério Studart **Executive Director** The World Bank 1818 H St., N.W. Washington, DC 20433, USA 1-202-458-0090 (office) 1-202-522-1551 (fax)

E-mail: RStudart@worldbank.org

#### **CANADA**

Jan Sheltinga Canadian International Development Agency Multilateral Development Institutions Directorate (MDI) 200 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4, CANADA Tel: + 819 994 7089

E-mail: jan.sheltinga@acdi-cida.gc.ca

#### **CHINA**

Shaolin Yang Executive Director, China The World Bank 1818 H St., N.W. Washington, DC 20433, USA

Tel: (202) 458-0058

E-mail: syang@worldbank.org

#### DENMARK

**Ambassador Margit THOMSEN** Ambassador, Head of Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Asiatisk Plads 2 Copenhagen - 1448 K Denmark

Tel: + 45 339 20535 Fax: + 45 3392 1678 E-mail: margth@um.dk

#### **EGYPT**

Mohamed Hammam Assistant to the Minister in Charge of International Organizations, International, Regional & Arab Financing Institutions Ministry of International Cooperation 8 Adly St., Downtown Cairo, EGYPT

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 49 of 62 Tel: +202 23912815 - +202 23955280, +202 23916214

Fax: +202 23915167

E-mail: mhammam@mic.gov.eg

#### **FRANCE**

Cyril Rousseau Service des Affaires multilatérales et du développeme Direction générale du Trésor Ministère de l'Economie, de l'industrie et de l'emploi FRANCE

Tel: + 33.1.44.87.73.60

E-mail: Cyril.Rousseau@dgtpe.fr

#### **GERMANY**

Frank Fass-Metz Head of Division Environment and Sustainable Use of Natural Resources Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development Dahlmannstrabe 4, 53113 Bonn, GERMANY

Tel: +49 (0) 228-99 535 3745 Fax: +49 (0) 228 99 535 3980

E-mail: Frank.Fass-Metz@bmz.bund.de

#### **GUYANA**

James Singh Commissioner of Forest Guyana Forestry Commission (GFC)

Tel: (592) 226 3898 Fax: (592) 226 8956

E-mail: <a href="mailto:commissioner@forestry.gov.gy">commissioner@forestry.gov.gy</a>

#### **INDONESIA**

Singgih Riphat Fiscal Policy Office Ministry of Finance B Building, 8th Floor Jalan Dr. Wahidin No.1 Jakarta, REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA

Tel: +62 21 384 6379 x 7270

Fax: +62 21 381 0181

E-mail: masri@centrin.net.id, riphats@yahoo.com

#### **INDIA**

Jawed Usmani Senior Advisor to the Executive Director for Bangladesh, Bhutan, India and Sri Lanka The World Bank 1818 H Street NW

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 50 of 62

Washington D.C. 20433 USA

Tel: (202) 458-1048 - Fax: (202) 522-1553

E-mail: jusmani@worldbank.org

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi Director for Development Issues International Bureau Ministry of Finance 3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp

#### KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

Asylbek A. Aidaraliev 27-6 Karasuiskaya Str, 72001 Bishkek Kyrgyz Republic

E-mail: iuk@mail.elcat.kg

#### **MALDIVES**

Ahmed Shafeeq Ibrahim Moosa Envoy for Science and Technology President's Office Maldives

Tel: +960 7966211

E-mail: <a href="mailto:ahmed.moosa@po.gov.mv">ahmed.moosa@po.gov.mv</a>

#### **MOROCCO**

El Amrani Abdelkrim Chargé de Mission Ministere Des Affaires Economiques Quartier Administratie Agdal- Rabat Morocco

Tel: 212 376 87316

E-mail: elamrani@affaires-generals.gov.ma

#### **NETHERLANDS**

Kitty van der Heijden Deputy Director Climate, Energy, Environment and Water Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Bezuidenhoutseweg 67, The Hague NETHERLANDS

E-mail: kitty-vander.heijden@minbuza.nl

#### **NIGERIA**

Victor Fodeke, Head, Special Climate Change Unit Federal Ministry of Environment

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 51 of 62

Nigeria

Tel: 2348036460880; 2348052508627

E-mail: vicfodeke@gmail.com

#### **NORWAY**

Bjørn Brede Hansen Head of Environmental Section Ministry of Foreign Affairs Oslo, NORWAY

Tel: + 47 22242734

E-mail: bjorn.brede.hansen@mfaa.no

#### **SENEGAL**

Cheikh Ndiaye Sylla

Head

Senegalease Environment Office

E-mail: denv@orange.sn

#### **SOUTH AFRICA**

Zaheer Fakir
Chief Director and Policy Advisor
International Governance and Relations
Dept. of Environmental Affairs and Tourism
SOUTH AFRICA

Tel: 27-12-310 3828

E-mail: zfakir@deat.gov.za

#### **SPAIN**

Eulalia Ortiz General Directorate for International Finance Ministry of Economy and Finance Paseo Castellana, 162 17th Floor, DESP 20 28046 Madrid, SPAIN

Tel: +34 915835274

E-mail: eulalia.ortiz@meh.es

#### **SWEDEN**

Anders Wahlberg Department for Multilateral Development Cooperation Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Stockholm, Sweden

Tel: + 46 70 328 35 04

E-mail: anders.wahlberg@foreign.ministry.se

#### **SWITZERLAND**

Brigitte Cuendet
Program Manager
Federal Department of Economic Affairs FDEA

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 52 of 62

State Secretariat for Economic Affairs SECO, Infrastructure Financing

Effingerstrasse 1

CH -3003 Berne, Switzerland

Tel: +41 31 324 92 13 Fax: 41 31 324 09 65

E-mail: brigitte.cuendet@seco.admin.ch

#### **TUNISIA**

Noureddine KAABI

General Director of Infrastructure

Ministry of Development and International Cooperation

Tunisia

E-mail: noureddine.kaabi@mdci.gov.tn

#### **TURKEY**

Özgür Pehlivan

**Deputy Director General** 

General Directorate of Foreign Economic Relations, Undersecretariat of Treasury

Inonu Bulvari No. 36 06510

Emek-Ankara, TURKEY Tel: +90 312 212 8256/Fax +90 312 212 85 50

E-mail: ozgur.pehlivan@hazine.gov.tr

#### **UNITED KINGDOM**

Greg Briffa

Team Leader Climate and Environment Group Department for International Development 1 Palace Street

London SW1E 5HE, UNITED KINGDOM

E-mail: g-briffa@dfid.gov.uk

#### **USA**

William Pizer
Deputy Assistant Secretary
Department of Treasury
Office of Environment & Energy
Room 3222 MT
1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20020 USA

Tel: (202) 622-0173

E-mail: william.pizer@do.treas.gov

#### YEMEN

Mohammed Hameed Al-Sha-abi Ministry of Electricity & Energy PO Box 11422

Yemen

Tel. 00967 777214506

E-mail: malshaabi@gmail.com

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 53 of 62

## **FIP Subcommittee**

#### **AUSTRALIA**

Jean-Bernard Carrasco
Assistant Director General
Sustainable Development Group
Australian Agency for International Development
Level 9, 20 Allara Street
Canberra City, ACT 2601
AUSTRALIA

Tel: 61 2 6206 4024

E-mail: jean-bernard.carrasco@ausaid.gov.au

#### **BRAZIL**

Rogério Studart Executive Director The World Bank 1818 H St., N.W. Washington, DC 20433, USA 1-202-458-0090 (office) 1-202-522-1551 (fax)

E-mail: RStudart@worldbank.org

#### **DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO**

Sibiri Sawadogo Represents Democratic Republic of Congo Senior Advisor to Executive Director The World Bank

Tel: (202) 458 1160

E-mail: ssawadogo1@worldbank.org

#### **DENMARK**

Christoffer Bertelsen Senior Adviser Department for Envrionment, Energy and Climate Ministry of Foreign Affairs Asiatsk Plads 2 / DK-1448 Kobenhavn K, DENMARK

Tel: +45 3392 000; (direct) +45 3392 1530

E-mail: chrber@um.dk

#### **INDONESIA**

Hadi S. Pasaribu Senior Advisor to the Minister on Institution, Ministry of Forestry in Indonesia Manggala Wanabakti Bldg., Block I, 3rd Floor Jl. Gatot Subroto, Senayan, Jakarta 10270, Indonesia

Tel: +62 21 573 0385

E-mail: hadispsaribu@yahoo.com

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 54 of 62

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi Director for Development Issues International Bureau Ministry of Finance 3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: <a href="mailto:shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp">shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp</a>

#### MOROCCO

Ali Lamrani Advisor to Executive Director (Morocco) World Bank 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. USA

Tel: 202 458-2087

E-mail: alamrani@worldbank.org

#### **NEPAL**

Mr. Madhu Kumar Marasini Represents Nepal Advisor to the Executive Director World Bank

Tel: +1-202- 473-9880

E-mail: MMarasini@worldbank.org

#### **NORWAY**

Per Fredrik Pharo Deputy Director International Climate and Forest Initiative Ministry of the Environment

Tel: (Office) +47 22 24 58 43; (cell) +47 93 04 61 84

E-mail: pip@md.dep.no

Per-Fredrik-Ilsaas.Pharo@md.dep.no

#### **ROMANIA**

Stefan Nanu Represents Romania Advisor to the Executive Director World Bank

Tel: +1-202- 473-4845

E-mail: SNanu@worldbank.org

#### **UNITED KINGDOM**

Vicky Seymour
Head of Environmental Transformation Fund Secretariat
Department for International Development
1 Palace Street
London SW1E 5HE, UNITED KINGDOM

Tel: +44 (0)20 7023 0656

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 55 of 62

E-mail: v-seymour@dfid.gov.uk

#### **UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (USA)**

Katie Berg Office of Environment and Energy Room 1014, US Treasury Department 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20220

Tel: 202 622 7224

E-mail: Katie.Berg@do.treas.gov

## **PPCR Subcommittee**

#### **AUSTRALIA** 8 \*

Jean-Bernard Carrasco
Assistant Director General
Sustainable Development Group
Australian Agency for International Development
Level 9, 20 Allara Street
Canberra City, ACT 2601
AUSTRALIA

Tel: 61 2 6206 4024

E-mail: <u>jean-bernard.carrasco@ausaid.gov.au</u>

#### **BANGLADESH**

Arastoo Khan
Additional Secretary
Economic Relations Division
Ministry of Finance
Sher-e-Bangla Nagar
Dhaka 1207, BANGLADESH

Tel: +880 2 8112641 - Fax: +880 2 8113088

E-mail: arastookhan3@gmail.com

#### **CANADA**

Jan Sheltinga
Canadian International Development Agency
Multilateral Development Institutions Directorate (MDI)
200 Promenade du Portage
Gatineau, Quebec
K1A 0G4, CANADA

E-mail: @acdi-cida.gc.ca

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 56 of 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> \* Within the contributor country group, it was agreed that countries may partner in a "twinning" arrangement to share one seat. The two partnering countries will agree how to rotate representatives to serve as the Member for the seat.

**DENMARK\*** 

Ambassador Margit THOMSEN Ambassador, Head of Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Asiatisk Plads 2 Copenhagen - 1448 K

Denmark

Tel: + 45 339 20535 Fax: +45 3392 1678 E-mail: margth@um.dk

#### **GERMANY**

Frank Fass-Metz Head of Division Environment and Sustainable Use of Natural Resources Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development Dahlmannstrabe 4, 53113 Bonn, GERMANY

Tel: +49 (0) 228-99 535 3745 Fax: +49 (0) 228 99 535 3980

E-mail: Frank.Fass-Metz@bmz.bund.de

#### **JAMAICA**

Vilma McNish Under-Secretary, Multilateral Affairs Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Foreign Trade 21 Dominica Drive KINGSTON 5 Jamaica Mobile - 876-564-4132 E-mail - undesecmfaja@cwjamaica.com

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi Director for Development Issues International Bureau Ministry of Finance 3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 57 of 62

#### **NORWAY\***

Margi Pettersen

Section for Environment and Sustainable Development, Department of UN, Peace and

**Humanitarian Affairs** 

Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs @ 7. juni-plassen/ Victoria Terrasse. [nid:681]

Tel: +47 22243746

E-mail: Marit.Viktoria.Pettersen@mfa.no

#### SAMOA

Iulai Lavea

Chief Executive Officer

Ministry of Finance,

Central Bank Building,

Private Mail Bag

Apia, Samoa

Phone: (685) 34332 Fax: (685) 21312

E-mail: iulai.lavea@mof.gov.ws

iulai lavea@yahoo.com

#### **TAJIKISTAN**

Ilhomjon Rajabov

Head of Climate Change Centre, Tajikistan

47 shevchenko street, 734025, Dushanbe, Tajikistan

Tel: +992 918 639318 Fax: +992 372 276181

E-mail: ilhomrajabov@mail.ru,

irajabov@gmail.com

#### **UNITED KINGDOM\***

Vicky Seymour

Department for International Development (DFID)

Department for International Development

1 Palace Street

London SW1E 5HE, UK

E-mail: v-seymour@dfid.gov.uk

#### **UNITED STATES**

William Pizer

Deputy Assistant Secretary

Office of Environment & Energy

Department of Treasury

Room 3222 MT, 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Tel: (202) 622-0173

E-mail: william.pizer@do.treas.gov

#### YEMEN

Mahmood Shedaiwah

Chairman

Environment Protection Agency (EPA)

Ministry of Water and Environment

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 58 of 62

Sana'a, Republic of Yemen (Fax No.: 967 -1- 207 327)

#### ZAMBIA

David C. Kaluba
Principal Economist, Economic and Technical Cooperation
Ministry of Finance and National Planning
P. O. Box 50062, Lusaka, Zambia

Tel: 260 211 251105; +260 0979 403037 E-mail: david.kaluba@mofnp.gov.zm;

dckaluba@yahoo.com

#### **BOARD OF THE ADAPTATION FUND**

Farrukh Iqbal Khan

E-mail: farrukhiqbalkhan@gmail.com,

fik2101@columbia.edu

#### SREP Subcommittee

#### **ARMENIA**

Adrine Ter-Grigoryan Advisor to Executive Director World Bank MC13-433 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington D.C.

E-mail: atergrigoryan@worldbank.org

#### **BANGLADESH**

Arastoo Khan Additional Secretary Economic Relations Division Ministry of Finance Sher-e-Bangla Nagar Dhaka 1207, BANGLADESH

Tel: +880 2 8112641 - Fax: +880 2 8113088

E-mail: arastookhan3@gmail.com

#### **JAPAN**

Shinji Taniguchi Director for Development Issues International Bureau Ministry of Finance 3-1-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8940, JAPAN

Tel: +81-3-3581-8035, Fax: +81-3-5251-2139

E-mail: <a href="mailto:shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp">shinji.taniguchi@mof.go.jp</a>

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 59 of 62

#### **NETHERLANDS**

Kitty van der Heijden **Deputy Director** Climate, Energy, Environment and Water Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Bezuidenhoutseweg 67, The Hague

**NETHERLANDS** 

E-mail: Kitty-vander.heijden@minbuza.nl

#### **NICARAGUA**

**Donald Morales** Banco Central de Nicaragua Tel: +(505) 2255 7171 Ext 527 E-mail: dmorales@bcn.gob.ni

#### **NORWAY**

Bente Weisser Multilateral Bank and Finance Section, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Norway Cell:+ 47 - 90736364

E-mail: Bente.Weisser@mfa.no

#### **SOLOMON ISLANDS**

H. E. Colin Beck Ambassador to the United Nations Embassy of Solomon Islands 800 Second Av, 400L, New York, New York 10017 Tel: 212 599 6192; Fax 212 661 8925

E-mail: cbeck@foreignaffairs-solomons.org

#### **SWITZERLAND**

**Brigitte Cuendet** Program Manager

Federal Department of Economic Affairs FDEA, State Secretariat for Economic Affairs

SECO, Infrastructure Financing

Effingerstrasse 1

CH -3003 Berne, Switzerland

Tel: +41 31 324 92 13 Fax: 41 31 324 09 65

E-mail: brigitte.cuendet@seco.admin.ch

#### **TANZANIA**

Ngosi C. X. Mwihava Assistant Commissioner, Renewable Energy Ministry of Energy and Minerals P. O. Box 2000 Dar es Salaam **TANZANIA** 

Tel: (Cell) +255-754-464036; +255-22-2119258; Fax: +255-22-2120799

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 60 of 62 E-mail: nmwihava@hotmail.com mwihava@mem.go.tz

#### **UNITED KINGDOM**

Vicky Seymour (Advisor)
Head of Environmental Transformation Fund Secretariat
Department for International Development
1 Palace Street
London SW1E 5HE, UNITED KINGDOM

Tel: +44 (0)20 7023 0656 E-mail: v-seymour@dfid.gov.uk

#### **USA**

Daniel Riley
Office of Environment and Energy
Department of Treasury
1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20020, USA

Tel: (202) 622-7812

E-mail: <u>Daniel.Riley@do.treas.gov</u>

#### YEMEN

Mohammed Hameed Al-Sha-abi Ministry of Electricity & Energy PO Box 11422 Yemen

Tel. 00967 777214506

E-mail: malshaabi@gmail.com

CIF 2010 ANNUAL REPORT 61 of 62

# **CIF** in Action

